#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DONNY CROOK, :

Appellant, :

vs. : Case No.SC03-455

STATE OF FLORIDA, :

Appellee. :

:

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR HIGHLANDS COUNTY STATE OF FLORIDA

#### INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES MARION MOORMAN PUBLIC DEFENDER TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

STEVEN L. BOLOTIN Assistant Public Defender FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 0236365

Public Defender's Office Polk County Courthouse P. O. Box 9000--Drawer PD Bartow, FL 33831 (863) 534-4200

## ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

## TOPICAL

### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This is an appeal from a death sentence imposed upon resentencing. The original record on appeal (case no. SC94782), which includes transcripts of the jury trial and penalty phase, will be referred to by volume and page number. The record of the resentencing proceeding, which includes the new Spencer hearing, will be referred to by the symbol "R", followed by volume and page number. The supplemental record on appeal will be referred to as "SR".

For the sake of clarity, appellant will be referred to by his first name in the portion of the Statement of Facts summarizing his mother's testimony.

All emphasis is supplied unless the contrary is indicated.

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant, DONNY L. CROOK, was charged by indictment on April 8, 1996 in Highlands County with the first degree murder of Betty Spurlock, robbery with a deadly weapon, and sexual battery with great force (1/37-40). After a jury trial before Circuit Judge J. David Langford on August 12-27, 1998, appellant was found guilty as charged on all counts (6/1055-57; 27/2927-28).

The penalty phase took place on September 14-15, 1998. During its deliberations the jury submitted the following question: "The jury requests information on the life without possibility of parole sentence. Does this actually and really mean that Donny Crook will never get out of jail?" (29/3316). The judge told counsel that, in accordance with Whitfield v. State, 706 So. 2d 1,5 (Fla. 1997), he would simply re-read the jury instruction that the punishment for the crime is either death of life imprisonment without the possibility of parole. Defense counsel suggested that Whitfield leaves it to the trial court's discretion, and he initially requested that the judge respond affirmatively to the jury's question, and tell them that "life means life" and there is no mechanism for parole in Florida. Defense counsel subsequently stated that the trial judge's proposal to re-read the instruction was acceptable, and the judge then did so (29/3317-24).

The jury returned an advisory verdict recommending, by a 7-5 vote, that appellant be sentenced to death (29/3326;7/1165) On November 24, 1998, the trial court sentenced appellant to death for

the murder, and imposed concurrent terms of life imprisonment on the remaining counts (11/2017-23, 2045-46, 2077).

On March 7, 2002, this Court affirmed appellant's convictions but vacated the death sentence and remanded the case to the trial court "to reconsider and reweigh all available mitigating evidence against the aggravating factors, and to determine the proper penalty in accordance with Florida law." Crook v. State, 813 So. 2d 68, 78 (Fla. 2002). The Court expressly noted that because of the remand "we do not reach the issue pertaining to the proportionality of Crook's death sentence in this case." 813 So. 2d at 78, n.8.

The new Spencer hearing took place on November 25, 2002 (R2/201-379). On February 18, 2003, Judge Langford reimposed the death penalty (R1/98-120; R3/382-417). He found the same three aggravating factors as in the original sentencing order: (1) that the capital felony occurred during the commission of a sexual battery (no specification of weight); (2) it was committed for pecuniary gain (no specification of weight); and (3) it was especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel (great weight) (R1/100-04). As in the original sentencing order, the judge found both of the statutory mental mitigating factors: (1) extreme mental or emotional disturbance and (2) impaired capacity to appreciate the criminality of his conduct or conform his conduct to the requirements of law. [In his original sentencing determination, in which he had erroneously failed to find and weigh appellant's organic brain damage, Judge Langford had given each of the mental mitigators only moderate weight (11/2035-36, see Crook v. State, 813 So. 2d at 73). However, in his revised sentencing order -- based on the testimony of Drs. McCraney, McClane and Dolente in the jury penalty phase and on the testimony of Dr. Elizabeth McMahon in the new Spencer hearing -- Judge Langford accorded both mental mitigators significant weight (R1/110, see 105-110)]. This time the trial court found that the evidence established that appellant suffers from organic brain damage:

[Dr. McMahon found] that the test scores and clinical data presented a clear picture of cortical dysfunction, specifically frontal lobe damage, primarily in the orbitofrontal region. The defendant additionally advised her of his use before the homicide of beer, marijuana (some of which was laced with heroin) and crack cocaine. She then noted the defendant had ingested four different types of mind altering substances, all of which impacted an already impaired brain.

The other experts, Dr.'s McCraney, McClane and Dolente testified to their finding of the existence of brain damage, specifically to the frontal lobe, which significantly impaired the defendant's ability to control his impulses. These experts also explained that the defendant's brain damage was made more severe by the use of both alcohol and drugs at the time of the crime.

(R1/110).

The trial court also found that the evidence established that appellant suffers from other dysfunctions related to the brain damage, including attention deficit hyperactivity disorder, learning disabilities, social isolation, language confusion, left-right dominance confusion, visual focus problems, bladder and bowel control problems, fear of abandonment, and sleep disturbance with night terrors (R1/116).

Appellant's age of 20 was found and given slight weight as a statutory mitigating factor (R1/105). However, the judge also considered as a nonstatutory mitigating factor that "[w]hile [appellant's] chronological age was 20 years, his level of maturity, i.e., his psychological and emotional age was significantly less." He found that "[t]his mitigating circumstance has been proven and the court has given moderate weight to it" (R1/111).

The trial court also found and gave moderate weight to five nonstatutory mitigating factors (considered in combination) which established that appellant's mother and father were "abysmal failures as parents" (R1/113); and that he had "a terrible home life" which included violence, instability, and periods of abandonment (R1/114-15), and physical and mental abuse and neglect which left him a virtual emotional cripple (R2/115,117).

Appellant's below average intelligence (moderate weight) and impaired educational experience (slight weight) were found as nonstatutory mitigating factors (R1/112-13,116). Also found as nonstatutory mitigators (slight weight) were his long history of substance abuse dating from age 8 (considered separately from his "drug use on the date of the offense and its effect on his mental state at that time") (R1/116-17); his lack of a history of violent behavior (R1/117); and his cooperation with the police, his true remorse for his actions (reflected in one of his taped confessions), and his good courtroom behavior despite his serious emotional and impulse control problems (R1/118-19).

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

#### A. Trial

In its opinion affirming appellant's convictions, this Court set forth the following facts:

The victim [59 year old Betty Spurlock] was the co-owner and operator of the Bull Penn Bar ("bar"). Her body was discovered lying behind the bar by the bar's other co-owner at 8:45 p.m. The bar's cash drawer we missing from the cash register. Spurlock suffered multiple stab wounds and significant head injuries. The medical examiner testified that a pool cue had been inserted into the victim's vagina, but he stated that Spurlock likely was unconscious at that time.<sup>1</sup>

Crook was seen in the bar both in the early afternoon and in the evening of the day of the murder. In the evening, a witness saw Crook sitting on his bicycle in front of the bar with a case of beer. Crook was last seen in the bar at approximately 8:15 p.m. sitting on a bar stool in front of Spurlock.

Authorities arrested Crook the next day on suspicion that he was involved in the murder. Subsequent DNA analysis determined that blood found on Crook's T-shirt was consistent with Spurlock's blood. During his time in police custody, Crook also admitted that he was present at the bar.

Although Crook did not confess to killing Spurlock or taking the money from the cash register, Crook admitted that he had been drinking alcohol and using cocaine on the day of the murder and "wanted rock." Crook stated that he had "seen [Spurlock] counting money. And I turned around and everything went black." Crook informed the detectives that after seeing

 $<sup>^1\,</sup>$  Actually the medical examiner's testimony was unequivocal on this point. He testified that Spurlock was unconscious at that time and would have experienced no sensations (18/1163). The prosecutor acknowledged this fact in her closing argument (25/2573). In his sentencing order, the trial judge found that Ms. Spurlock was already mortally wounded and "undoubtedly unconscious", although still alive (R2/101).

Spurlock lying on the floor naked with blood everywhere, he "got scared," ran out the front door of the bar, and rode his bicycle to his cousin's house where he changed his clothes. Also, a correctional officer testified he overheard Crook telling his brother, James Crook, who was visiting Crook in jail, that he "hit her in the head . . . . The money wouldn't come out. I was banging it on concrete but it wouldn't open. I got pissed off and hit her in the face."

#### Crook v. State, supra, 813 So. 2d at 69-70.

A detailed summary of the guilt phase evidence is contained in appellant's initial brief in the original appeal (case no. SC94782). It will not be repeated here, except for (1) the testimony tending to corroborate appellant's statements regarding his drug and alcohol consumption on the day of the crime, and (2) the testimony tending to corroborate the prosecutor's hypothesis that the murder occurred when, in the course of a robbery, Ms. Spurlock struck appellant in the head with the pool cue, sending him into a rage (25/2601-03, see R276-76,281,304-05;SR1/009,012). In his statement to Detective Murray, appellant said he was high on rock cocaine, and he was drunk. He'd had a fifth of Tequila and then he was drinking Old Milwaukee. He wanted more rock, and he saw the lady counting money (23/2193-99). He told Detective Murray that everything went black after that, though he remembered seeing her lying there and he ran out of the bar (23/2193-99).

Earlier that evening, Eva Johns (a state witness) saw appellant, whom she knew, in front of a Presto store on a bicycle with a case of Old Milwaukee sitting on the handles. Appellant gave her a

beer. The case was getting low; there were maybe six or eight beers left. Appellant "looked like he was partying" (15/624-27,633).

After the homicide, appellant showed up at the home of his cousin Melissa Lemay (a state witness). Melissa described him as "hyper loud." She thought he was high on rock or paper, because his pupils were so big you could not see his eye color (16/809-10,834).

Appellant was arrested shortly before midnight. The next day he was taken to the hospital for the collection of hair and blood samples. He was examined by Dr. Richard Spindler, who observed an assortment of scratches and abrasions to his knee, forearm, and hand. These injuries were one or two days old. Dr. Spindler also saw a quarter inch abrasion on the right side of appellant's forehead, with a surrounding half inch swelling (also 1-2 days old)(21/1715-16,1721-22). According to Detective John Murray, appellant told Dr. Spindler that he had banged his head on the air pump at the Texaco station. Appellant had already given Murray two different explanations for the bump on his forehead; that he hit it on a tree limb while riding his bike, and that he hit it on a door frame (23/2150-51; 24/2283-85).

The prosecutor, in responding to the defense's motion for judgment of acquittal, argued that the locking of the front door of the bar "[showed] the premeditated <u>intent to rob the lady</u> who was seen counting the money, Betty Spurlock" (24/2394-95). In her closing statement to the jury, the prosecutor again made the point that the locking of the front door went to the issue of premeditation

of the robbery (25/2580-81). The prosecutor then suggested that the homicide was committed in the following manner:

This is a case, however, that seems to be particularly consistent with an acknowledgment that in the course of that Robbery this Defendant got pissed off. Perhaps it was simply the anger generated by having a cash drawer that he couldn't get open. Having in his hand money that he couldn't get to. Perhaps in this case there is another potential for - and excuse my language - but potential for being pissed off.

Let me show you what's marked as State's Exhibit Number 12. You've certainly seen it before. And it is the person of Donny Crook on the 15th day of March, 1996 when he's taken to the hospital and all of his injuries are recorded. And one of the injuries that you see in photograph 12-D. An obvious bump on his head and a laceration associated with it.

And one thing you know about that particular injury is that he explained it to Dr. Spindler and he said, I banged my head on an air compressor at the Texaco Station. Detective Murray kind of shakes his head because he had heard two other explanations for the injury. One was he had hit it on a limb and the other one was he had hit it on a door frame.

A couple things. Betty Spurlock has obvious stab wounds to her neck. She had obvious stab wounds to her abdomen. Dr. Melamud said well, the trauma from the instrument that was involved there, it had one side that was fairly blunt and one side that was fairly sharp. And it seems to come in pairs.

And what do we know about Betty Spurlock and what she had been doing that afternoon? She had been cutting hair. An object, a pair of scissors that might be in her possession. In fact, perhaps used by Betty Spurlock in an attempt to defend herself and taken from her.

Betty Spurlock beaten in this area. One of the things you notice is a pool cue wrapped with tape, a type of an object available for Betty Spurlock to whack Donny Crook right across the forehead that evening in her own defense. Sufficient, in fact, to piss off her assailant.

And the carnage begins. As she, in fact, is stomped. The jaws broken, drug and this pool cue, intact at that time, shoved from vagina to forehead. The kind of anger, kind of retaliation well beyond a simple Robbery or Sexual Battery.

(25/2601-03)

In her sentencing memorandum in the resentencing proceeding, the prosecutor continued to assert that crime scene analysis circumstantially suggests that the brutality directed toward Ms. Spurlock was triggered by a blow to Crook's head (SR1/009), and, "The State proposed at the initial trial that a blow to Crook's head with a pool cue directed Crook's attention to Mrs. Spurlock in a very personal way. She became the focus of his violent behavior" (SR1/012).

### B. Jury Penalty Phase

#### Aneitta Crook Bravo

Aneitta is Donny Crook's mother. She left home at age fifteen to marry Donny's daddy, James Crook. When she was growing up, she went to school "[w]henever I could", but she only got as far as the eighth grade, and she cannot read or write well. James had dropped out of school in the third grade (28/2975-76,2979).

Aneitta and James had three sons; James Jr. in 1965, Ronnie in 1968, and Donny in 1976 (28/2977-78). When James Jr. grew up, he got with the wrong people and started doing drugs and stealing (28/2977-78). Ronnie had a lot of physical problems as he was growing up; he was hyperactive, and had hypoglycemia and epileptic fits (28/2978).

After the two older boys were born, but several years before Donny's birth, Aneitta and James Sr. separated "because a tow motor fell on his head over at Lake Region and he was crazy" (28/2978-79). Before the injury, James was good and kind; afterwards he was awful. He hurt people, and didn't have any feelings for anybody (29/2979).

Following the separation, James Sr. had the boys at first, but he couldn't handle them, so Aneitta got them back. She was living in Miami, working in a screen factory, but "it was too many problems." James' family wouldn't leave her alone; they fought with her and stole everything she had, so she went back to her family in Alabama (28/2980-81).

In 1975, Aneitta got back together with James. He had told her that he had gotten a divorce from her, but he hadn't. She got pregnant from him, and her family told her that she had to remarry him, so they remarried in Avon Park, and Donny was born in a county hospital in Birmingham, Alabama, in January of the following year (28/2978, 2981-83).

While Aneitta was pregnant with Donny, they were continuously on the road from one place to another (28/2982). "After I went back to James, it was two months here, a month there. I couldn't even tell you. Everywhere we went there was problems. He just caused problems" (28/2983). She didn't stay in one place long enough to have a doctor, until she went into labor (28/2982-83). Donny was delivered by C-section, and there were a lot of difficulties with the delivery. She and the infant spent two weeks in the hospital, and then went to live in the truck (28/2984).

Asked to explain what she meant, Aneitta said, "It was too cold in the house to keep Donny, so I stayed in the front seat of the truck with Donny to keep him warm" (28/2985). As for her other two children, "I put Ronnie down in the floorboard. And when Jimmy would get too cold, he would come up there with us and sit by the door" (28/2985). This was still in the winter in Alabama, and there was snow on the ground. She told James Sr. she couldn't handle it any more, and they went back to Florida, to Lake County (28/2985).

James wouldn't work, and couldn't work due to his head injury, so Aneitta got welfare and also got a job at the packinghouse. They were living in a trailer over in Mascotte, and the children were left in James' care while she worked (28/2986). James was very abusive to the children, and that included the infant, Donny (28/2990-91). James also abused Aneitta in front of the children; "one time he beat me with a redwood board and knocked all my teeth out" (29/2990).

When Donny was about three or four months old, James left
Aneitta again. One day she came home from work and "there sit Rachel
in my house." Rachel was James' girlfriend; he later married her,
but it wasn't legal (28/2986-87). James ran off to North Carolina
with Rachel, and when he returned he wanted to move back in with
Aneitta. When she told him she wasn't going to feed him any more, he
got mad and went to HRS. He also had her electricity, water, and gas
cut off, telling the utility companies they were moving. Aneitta had
no lights in the house, no way of feeding the children, no water to
bathe them (28/2988). The oldest boy, Jimmy, got sick, and James'
sister broke out all the windows in Aneitta's car (28/2988, 2992):

- Q. [defense counsel]: Okay. Think of the question now, Ms. Bravo. How did HRS get involved in this?
- A. HRS come and picked up my kids because I was at the hospital with Jimmy. And I thought that Jimmy had appendicitis. Jimmy is James.
  - Q. Now, did HRS take all of your children?
- A. They didn't get Jimmy. They just got Donny and Ronnie.

(28/2988)

Donny and Ronnie were placed in foster care. In the meantime, after she got her car fixed, Aneitta went to Vero Beach to pick oranges. There she met a fellow migrant worker named Artureo Sanchez. They traveled the eastern part of the country, picking fruits and vegetables in season. They were together for almost two years before the relationship ended, and Artureo was the father of Aneitta's daughter Tonya (28/2989,2991-95,3001).

About 6-8 months after Donny and Ronnie were put in foster care, Aneitta was able to get them back, and the children traveled with her and Artureo (28/2989,2991-96). The older boys were sometimes going to school and sometimes not; when she couldn't get a sitter Jimmy and Ronnie would have to stay home and take care of the babies, Donny and Tonya (28/2996).

After picking tomatoes in Ohio and cutting celery in upstate New York, Aneitta moved to Victoria, Texas and got her own place (28/2994-97). She got a job as a barmaid and later as a cashier, and she also danced as a means of making additional money (28/2997-98). Asked who was taking care of the children, she answered:

Nobody but me.

- Q. And while you are working at the bar who was taking care of them?
  - A. I'd get baby-sitters.
  - O. Do you know who?
- A. No. Because I didn't have any baby-sitters. The big kids took care of the little kids.

(28/2998-99).

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