IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DONNY LEE CROOK,

Appellant,

vs.

CASE NO. SC03-455 Lower Tribunal No. CF96-0188A-XX

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

_____/

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR HIGHLANDS COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. ATTORNEY GENERAL

CANDANCE M. SABELLA Assistant Attorney General Chief of Capital Appeals Florida Bar No. 0445071 Concourse Center 4 3507 East Frontage Road, Suite Tampa, Florida 33607-7013 Telephone: (813) 287-7910 Facsimile: (813) 281-5501

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Issue One:

claim is that his first Appellant's sentence is disproportionate. After the remand, the trial court once again imposed the death sentence. In support of the sentence he found three appravating circumstances: 1) during the commission of a sexual battery; 2) pecuniary gain; 3) heinous, atrocious, or cruel (HAC). Appellant does not dispute the existence of these three appravating factors, but urges that when considered in light of the trial court's finding of the two mental mitigators, as well as a number of other factors under the "catchall" factor nonstatutory factors, and several the sentence is disproportionate. A review of similar cases, however, shows that the sentence imposed in the instant case was proportionate and should be affirmed.

Issue Two:

Appellant's claim of relief based on <u>Ring v. Arizona</u>, 536 U.S. 584 (2002) is without merit because this Court has repeatedly held that <u>Ring</u> does not apply to Florida's death penalty statute. Furthermore, as the jury convicted the defendant of both sexual battery and robbery in addition to first degree murder, there can be no <u>Ring</u> error.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

WHETHER APPELLANT'S DEATH SENTENCE IS PROPORTIONATE.

On appeal from the resentencing, appellant once again asserts that his sentence is not proportionate.³ And, once again, the state urges this Court to find that the sentence of death imposed in the instant case is proportionate.

A. <u>Standard of Review</u>

This Court has described the "proportionality review" conducted by this Court in every death case as follows:

Because death is a unique punishment, it is necessary in each case to engage in a thoughtful, deliberate proportionality review <u>to consider the totality of</u> <u>circumstances in a case, and to compare it with other</u> <u>capital cases</u>. It is not a comparison between the number of aggravating and mitigating circumstances.

Porter v. State, 564 So. 2d 1060, 1064 (Fla. 1990), cert. denied, 498 U.S. 1110 (1991)(citation omitted)(emphasis added); see also Terry v. State, 668 So. 2d 954, 965 (Fla. 1996);

<u>Crook v. State</u>, 813 So. 2d at 78 n.8.

³ This claim was presented in the prior appeal and this Court declined to address same stating, in pertinent part: "Because we are remanding this case to the trial court, we do not reach the issue pertaining to the proportionality of Crook's death sentence in this case."

<u>Tillman v. State</u>, 591 So. 2d 167, 169 (Fla. 1991). While the existence and number of aggravating or mitigating factors do not prohibit or require a finding that death is disproportionate, this Court nevertheless is "required to weigh the nature and quality of those factors as compared with other similar reported death appeals." <u>Kramer v. State</u>, 619 So. 2d 274, 277 (Fla. 1993). The purpose of the proportionality review is to compare the case to similar defendants, facts and sentences. <u>Tillman</u>, 591 So. 2d at 169.

B. <u>Appellant's Death Sentence, Supported By Three Weighty</u> <u>Aggravating Factors, Is Proportional Despite The Existence</u> <u>Of Statutory And Non-Statutory Mitigation</u>

Crook was convicted of the brutal slaying and robbery of 59year-old Betty Spurlock. The evidence presented during the prior proceeding showed that Crook entered the victim's place of business. Business was slow and the establishment was empty except for the victim and Crook. Mrs. Spurlock was counting money and Crook decided to rob her. In pursuit of that intent, Crook first locked the front door of the establishment and then beat, stabbed, kicked, and stomped Betty Spurlock until she lapsed into unconsciousness. Appellant then took a pool cue and inserted same into the vagina of the victim. The pool cue ripped through the vaginal wall, the pelvic diaphragm, ran parallel with the spine as it perforated the liver, diaphragm, the lung, the neck, the oral cavity and the base of the victim's skull with such force as to shatter the base of the skull and to cause massive injury to the brain of the victim. The Medical Examiner testified that although mortally wounded by earlier violence directed toward the victim, and undoubtedly unconscious when the pool cue was inserted, Mrs. Spurlock was alive at the time she was penetrated by the pool cue. In fact, the Medical Examiner opined that the direct cause of death was the shattering of the basal skull by the pool cue.

In addition to the evidence produced at trial, Dr. Elizabeth McMahon testified for the defense at the resentencing <u>Spencer</u> hearing regarding information she gleaned during an interview with appellant. By her testimony, Dr. McMahon memorializes appellant's accounting of his behavior which is chilling in its premeditated nature. Appellant detailed his actions to her which were allegedly motivated by his desire to achieve a coverup of his crimes. Appellant claimed to have deliberately pushed a pool cue through the body of the victim, allegedly in order to "make it look like a Mexican had done it." Whatever the motivating factor, Crook's actions displayed an unquestionably premeditated intent to rob, murder and torture the hapless victim.

After the remand, the trial court once again imposed the death sentence. In support of the sentence he found three aggravating circumstances: 1) during the commission of a sexual

battery; 2) pecuniary gain; and 3) heinous, atrocious, or cruel (HAC). Appellant does not dispute the existence of these three aggravating factors, but urges that when considered in light of the trial court's finding of the two mental mitigators, as well as a number of other factors under the "catchall" factor and several nonstatutory factors, the sentence is disproportionate. A review of similar cases, however, shows that the sentence imposed in the instant case was proportionate and should be affirmed.

In <u>Orme v. State</u>, 677 So. 2d 258, 263 (Fla. 1996), this Court found the death sentence was proportional for the sexual battery, beating, and strangulation of Orme's former girlfriend. In that case, as here, there were three statutory aggravators --HAC, pecuniary gain, and sexual battery and, as in the instant case, both statutory mental mitigators were found as well as a number of nonstatutory factors.

The instant case is also similar to <u>Johnston v. State</u>, 841 So. 2d 349 (Fla. 2002). Johnston was convicted of first-degree murder, kidnapping, robbery, sexual battery, and burglary of a conveyance with assault or battery. In aggravation the court found HAC; during the commission of a sexual battery and a kidnapping; pecuniary gain; and prior violent felony. In mitigation the court found one of the mental mitigators, capacity to appreciate the criminality of his conduct or to

conform his conduct to the requirements of law was substantially impaired and gave it moderate weight and the following nonstatutory mitigation: "(1) the time passing between the decision to cause the victim's death and the time of the killing itself was insufficient under the circumstances to allow cool and thoughtful consideration of his conduct (no weight); (2) the defendant will not be a danger to others while serving a sentence of life in prison (no weight); (3) the defendant has shown remorse (slight weight); (4) the defendant did not plan to commit the offense in advance (no weight); (5) the defendant has a long history of mental illness (slight weight); (6) the defendant suffers from a dissociative disorder (no weight); (7) the defendant suffers from a seizure disorder and blackouts, but there is no evidence that any such disorder contributed to this crime (no weight); (8) the murder was the result of impulsivity and irritability (no weight); (9) the defendant is capable of strong, loving relationships (slight weight); (10) the defendant is a man who excels in a prison environment (slight weight); (11) the defendant could work and contribute while in prison (slight weight); (12) the defendant has "extraordinary musical skills and is a gifted musician" (no weight); (13) the defendant has obtained additional education from the University of Florida (no weight); (14) the defendant served in the U.S. Air Force defendant refused (slight weight); (15) the worker's

compensation despite constant headaches and seizures (no weight); (16) during the time the defendant was on parole, he excelled and was recommended for early termination (slight weight); (17) the defendant was a productive member of society after his release from prison (slight weight); (18) when notified that the police were looking for him, he did not flee but turned himself in (slight weight); (19) the defendant demonstrated appropriate courtroom behavior during trial (slight weight); (20) the defendant tried to conform his behavior to normal, but has been thwarted by his mental illness and brain dysfunction (slight weight); (21) the defendant has a special bond with children (no weight); (22) the defendant has the support of his mother and sister (slight weight); (23) since the defendant can be sentenced to multiple consecutive life sentences based on the other crimes, he will die in prison and the death penalty is not necessary to protect society (no weight); (24) the totality of circumstances do not set this murder apart from the norm of other murders (no weight); (25) the defendant might be subject to Jimmy Ryce Act involuntary commitment (no weight); and (26) the defendant offered to be a kidney donor for his ex-wife (slight weight)." Id. at 360. Upon review, this Court found that the circumstances of this case are similar to other cases where the death penalty has been upheld.

Appellant's case is also similar to Spencer v State, 691 So.

2d 1062, 1063 (Fla. 1996), cert. denied, 522 U.S. 884 (1997) where "the defendant was sentenced to death for the first degree murder of his wife Karen Spencer, as well as aggravated assault, aggravated battery, and attempted second degree murder." Δs aggravating circumstances, the trial court found: "1) Spencer was previously convicted of a violent felony, based upon his contemporaneous convictions for aggravated assault, aggravated battery, and attempted second degree murder; and 2) the murder was especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel." The judge found three mitigating circumstances: "1) the murder was committed while Spencer was under the influence of extreme mental or emotional disturbance; 2) Spencer's capacity to appreciate the criminality of his conduct or to conform his conduct to the requirements of law was substantially impaired; and 3) the existence of a number of non-statutory mitigating factors in Spencer's background, including drug and alcohol abuse, paranoid personality disorder, sexual abuse by his father, honorable military record, and ability to function in a structured environment that does not contain women." Spencer, 691 So. 2d The trial court found that 1063. the mitigating at circumstances did not outweigh the aggravators and this Court affirmed after conducting a proportionality review. See also Guzman v. State, 721 So. 2d 1155 (Fla. 1998)(affirming sentence where victim received nineteen stab wounds to face, skull, back,

and chest, and a defensive wound to a finger on his left hand); Schwab v. State, 636 So. 2d 3, 7 (Fla. 1994) (holding the death sentence proportional for kidnapping, murder, and sexual battery of a boy, where prior conviction of violent felony, murder in the course of a felony, and HAC were proven); <u>Pope v. State</u>, 679 So. 2d 710 (Fla. 1996)(death sentence proportional for murder of defendant's former girlfriend with aggravating circumstances of prior violent felony convictions and murder committed for pecuniary gain while mitigation included extreme mental or emotional disturbance and the defendant's capacity to conform conduct to the requirements of the law was substantially impaired); Brown v. State, 565 So. 2d 304 (Fla. 1990)(death sentence for murder committed during the course of burglary was proportionate where there were two aggravating factors balanced against the mental mitigators); Lemon v. State, 456 So. 2d 885 (Fla. 1984)(death penalty proportionate where HAC and prior violent felony convictions for attempted murder (stabbing female victim) balanced against serious emotional disturbance at the time of the offense).

In his effort to show the sentence is not proportional, appellant relies upon this Court's prior opinions in <u>Larkins v.</u> <u>State</u>, 739 So. 2d 90, 92-96 (Fla. 1999); <u>Hawk v. State</u>, 718 So. 2d 159, 163-64 (Fla. 1998); <u>Cooper v. State</u>, 739 So. 2d 82 (Fla. 1999); and <u>Terry v. State</u>, 668 So. 2d 954 (Fla. 1996). In none

of those cases was there the presence of the incredibly heinous attack as was present in the instant case.⁴ Consequently, in none of the those cases was the heinous atrocious or cruel factor found. This Court has placed the HAC statutory aggravator at the apex in the pyramid of the capital aggravating jurisprudence. See Maxwell v. State, 603 So. 2d 490, 493 (Fla. 1992)("By any standards, the factors of heinous, atrocious, or cruel, and cold, calculated premeditation are of the most serious order"); Larkins, at 95 (noting "that neither the heinous, atrocious, or cruel nor the cold, calculated, and premeditated aggravators are present in this case. These, of course, are two of the most serious aggravators set out in the statutory sentencing scheme, and, while their absence is not controlling, it is also not without some relevance to a proportionality analysis.") Indeed, this Court has approved death sentences supported only by an HAC aggravator where it was balanced against several mitigating circumstances, including under extreme mental or emotional disturbance. Butler v. State, 842 So. 2d 817 (Fla. 2003).

Admittedly, the presence of the HAC factor alone is not

⁴ <u>Larkins</u> (two aggravators present were a substantially mitigated prior felony and pecuniary gain); <u>Hawk</u> (aggravators found were the contemporaneous assault on the victim's husband and pecuniary gain); <u>Cooper</u>, (shooting death committed during pawnshop robbery - three aggravators, prior violent felony; during course of a robbery; and (CCP)); <u>Terry</u>, (robbery and prior violent felony.)

controlling, but when the brutal facts surrounding the murder of Mrs. Spurlock are considered in relation to those in Larkins, Hawk, Cooper, and Terry, it is apparent that the murder in the instant case is more aggravated. For example, in <u>Cooper</u>, this Court found that Cooper robbed a pawnshop and shot the owner to During the penalty phase of the trial, the defense death. presented testimony of two mental health experts who testified that Cooper is brain-damaged, has a history of seizures, and suffers from frontal lobe dysfunction, which causes him to have impaired judgment and poor impulse control. The experts further stated that at the time of the crime Cooper was under the influence of extreme mental or emotional disturbance and was under extreme duress or under substantial dominion of another person. They also testified that Cooper scored high on tests for both paranoia and schizophrenia and is borderline retarded. Id. at 84-85. Although the two cases have very similar mitigating circumstances, the instant is clearly more aggravated. The extremely heinous attack that was committed on Mrs. Spurlock is of a more aggravated nature than the shooting death of the pawnshop owner. As the trial court found below in support of the HAC factor:

The evidence is abundantly clear that Betty Spurlock was beaten, stabbed, kicked, and stomped until she could resist her assailant no further and eventually, mercifully lapsed into unconsciousness. The evidence further demonstrated that such vicious attack was unnecessary to the accomplishment of the

taking of money by force or violence from Mrs. Spurlock's custody. Crime scene photos clearly demonstrate that Mrs. Spurlock was immediately incapacitated for a period of time sufficient for Crook to take the money and run.

The Medical Examiner, Dr. Melamud, testified that Mrs. Spurlock was stabbed four times in the neck; she suffered multiple bone fractures of the face including the fracture of both orbits of the eyes and fractures of the mandible-both right and left. Mrs. Spurlock's face, imprinted with multiple patterns of a tennis shoe sole, testified to the stomping actions directed toward the victim.

The blood spatter expert, Leroy Parker, testified that the crime scene demonstrated multiple areas of violence directed toward Mrs. Spurlock. These areas were separate from the location where Mrs. Spurlock fell upon initial knockdown. Parker testified that Mrs. Spurlock regained her feet and attempted to defend herself from attack.

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